93972.1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEUTSCHE BANK TRUST COMPANY AMERICAS
AS INDENTURE TRUSTEE FOR THE REGISTERED HOLDERS OF
SAXON ASSET SECURITIES TRUST 2005-1
MORTGAGE LOAN ASSET BACKED NOTES, SERIES 2005-1

Respondent,

v.

ALBERT E. AVALO and VICTORIA L. AVALO

Petitioner.

AMEN OED
PETITION FOR REVIEW

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS
B.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
D.	ARGUMENTS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED8
1.	The Trial Court denied the Avalos' right to obtain discovery. Without any party's motion or objection in opposition to discovery, and on its own initiative and contrary to Rule 26, the Trial Court disallowed the Avalos' discovery from going forward. The Court then granted Deutsche Bank's Motion for Summary Judgment. In its summary of the case, the Court of Appeals' opinion inaccurately deals with this element of the case, treating it as a question of whether the Trial Court was required to allow "additional discovery" when, in fact, the Avalos had not yet, to date, had the ability to conduct ANY discovery at all. Deutsche Bank made their discovery requests to the Avalos, to which the Avalos provided a timely response. At no time did the Trial Court challenge the relevance of Deutsche Bank's discovery requests as it did the Avalos'. Given that the rules of civil procedure promote reciprocity and equal access to evidence, pursuant to Rule 26 the Avalos should have been able to conduct discovery
2.	The Avalos argue for the fair administration of justice. Specifically, they argue that had the Trial Court and the Appellate Court followed the facts of the case, and the rules, by allowing the Avalos to properly defend themselves without obstruction, justice would be served. They argue that this position is widely supported beginning with the rules of civil procedure, extending to the laws of the state and up to the constitution and the case law that carves the contours of the enforcement authority to rightly enforce all of the above
E.	CONCLUSION19
	Citing RAP 13.45 (b)(1), (3), and (4)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Cases

<u>Bain v. Metropolitan Mortg. Group, Inc.</u> , 285 P.3d 34, 175 Wn.2d 83 (Wash.2012)
Brown v. Dep't of Commerce, 184 Wn.2d 509, 524-25,359 P.3d 771 (2015)
State v. Boehme, 71 Wn.2d 621, 632, 430 P.2d 527 (1967)10
State v. Robinson, 61 Wn.2d 107, 377 P.2d 248 (1962)10
State v. Gilman, 63 Wn.2d 7, 385 P.2d 369 (1963)10
State v. Peele, 67 Wn.2d 893, 410 P.2d 599 (1966)10
State v. Yates 111 Wn.2d 793 765 P.2d 291 (1988)10
<u>Turner v. Kohler</u> , 54 Wn. App. at 629 8, 9
<u>Washington Fed'n of State Employees v. State</u> , 99 Wn.2d 878, 887, 665 P.2d 1337 (1983)
Statutes
RCW 19.144.010(12)20
RCW 62A.3-10616
RCW 62A.3-30113
RCW 62A.3-302(a)(1)16
RCW 62A.3-302(a)(2)16
RCW 62A.3-302(e)

RCW 62A.3-305(a)16
RCW 62A.3-30616
Court Rules
Rule 26 (b)(1)(a),(b), and (c)11
CR 60(b)(9)5
RAP 13.419
Other Authorities
Volume 18 Stoebuck & Weaver, Washington Practice: Real Estate Transactions (2d ed. 2004), at 33415
Washington Constitution
WASH. REV. CODE § 2.04.180 (2005)18

A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER(S)</u>

Alberto and Victoria Avalo, pro se, request the Honorable Court to grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4 of the unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals in DEUTSCHE BANK TRUST COMPANY AMERICAS AS INDENTURE TRUSTEE FOR THE REGISTERED HOLDERS OF SAXON ASSET SECURITIES TRUST 2005-1 MORTGAGE LOAN ASSET BACKED NOTES, SERIES 2005-1, PLAINTIFF v. AVALO, DEFENDANTS No. 75695-8-1, filed on November 14, 2016. A copy of the Court of Appeal's opinion is attached as Appendix A. [Respondent/Plaintiff hereafter "Deutsche" and Petitioner/Defendant hereafter "the Avalos."]

B. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. Pursuant to the provisions of Rule 26, did the Trial Court err by exceeding its discretion when it disallowed the Avalos from obtaining discovery before proceeding with summary judgment, particularly since the Trial Court knew 1) that the Avalos had experienced an unavoidable casualty or misfortune preventing them from putting forth a proper defense in the matter prior to January of 2015, 2) that Deutsche Bank was able to conduct discovery, and 3) that Deutsche Bank offered no objection to the Avalos being able to

proceed with discovery, and did the Appellate Court err by failing to note, opine and rule on the Trial Court's error?

2. Were applicable provisions of the state Constitution violated and/or were the Trial Court and Court of Appeals in conflict with prior decisions of the Court when, on its own discretion and without any objection from Deutsche Bank, the Trial Court disallowed the Avalos from being able to conduct discovery after Deutsche Bank had been able to conduct its own discovery without obstruction?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In December of 2004, the Avalos signed a note in the amount of \$388,218 to Saxon Mortgage, Inc. See Appeals Court opinion, Page 2.

In 2006 the Avalos household income decreased and inquired with Saxon about refinancing. In early 2007, Saxon said that refinancing was not an option due to loan-to-value issues. However, the Avalos were encouraged to seek a modification which the Avalos did in late 2007.

On Page 2 of its opinion, the Appellate Court states that "[t]he Avalos defaulted on their loan and, in May 2009, entered into a loan modification agreement with Deutsche Bank."

That is not accurate. The Avalos had never made a single late

payment as of December 2007, when the modification process began. The Avalos NEVER defaulted on their loan or refused to make any payments.

Saxon's work to modify the loan took over 18 months, during which time: Saxon made countless errors, including lost paperwork requiring the Avalos to resend the same and/or updated redundant documentation multiple times; the Avalos could not make payments; the accrual of interest was not suspended during the extended amount of time the modification took to complete; Saxon erroneously began foreclosure proceedings against the Avalos on 3 separate occasions during those 18 months; and when Saxon finally presented the Avalos with a modified loan, it included a \$70,067.85 add-on to the principal of the loan which represented the interest that had been accumulating the entire 18-month period of time Saxon took to complete the modification.

When the Avalos complained, Saxon agreed to eliminate that \$70,067.85 figure, stating that the interest accrual during the modification was a clerical error and should not have happened because the modification had taken so long to complete and acknowledged it was their fault.

The Avalos continued receiving separate statements from Saxon, demanding payment for the added interest in addition to the modified payment. The Avalos continued to complain and demand this get fixed.

The problem was not rectified. Ocwen took over the loan in 2009 after 4 months of on-time payments by the Avalos. But because Saxon had agreed that the \$70,067.85 figure was a mistake on their part, the Avalos refused to make payments on that figure. The Avalos kept following up. At one point, an Ocwen representative noticed that they had been charging the Avalos almost three times more than was due for escrow. While that issue was rectified, Ocwen never addressed the \$70,067.85 Saxon error.

As proof that neither Saxon nor Ocwen ever rectified this error, we see the exact same figure (\$70,067.85) near the bottom of Page 3 of the Deutsche Complaint against the Avalos. Deutsche Bank, without explanation, represents that figure as "the Stated Balloon Amount" and a similar figure – \$70,453.35 – is represented near the bottom of Page 4 of the Deutsche Complaint and described as "the deferred principal balance" also with no explanation as to what that means or what business record validates that figure as owed by the Avalos.

After loan modification, the Avalos never made payments on the \$70,067.85 because Saxon acknowledged it as a mistake and not owed. Deutsche Bank ultimately filed a lawsuit to foreclose on the Avalos home due to an illegitimate financial obligation created by a mistake that Saxon, Ocwen, and Deutsche all knew about and all effectively ignored.

In the weeks and months following the initiation of the lawsuit against them, the Avalos did answer the complaint, but simply did not have time to research and formulate their discovery requests. This was due to the fact that for almost the entirety of the 2014 calendar year, the Avalos were in Texas, caring for an ill parent who ended up passing away in late 2014.

The situation confronted by the Avalos in 2014 is best described in the rules of civil procedure as an "[u]navoidable casualty or misfortune preventing the party from prosecuting or defending". See CR 60(b)(9). See also transcript from February 13, 2015 Motion for Summary Judgment Hearing, Pages 7, 8, and 9 where Mrs. Avalo describes why they had been unable to begin their defense of the case sooner.

In the summer of 2014, some months after Deutsche Bank filed their lawsuit against the Avalos, the Avalos did receive from Ocwen, Deutsche Bank's servicer, an offer of a mortgage modification with a due date for signature and return that had already passed. The Avalos responded positively to the offer, stating that they were prepared to accept the offer if they would correct the date and resend. In their response, the Avalos also reiterated some of their concerns because Saxon had previously reneged on their promise to remove the aforementioned erroneous \$70,067.85 add-on. Ocwen never sent a correctly-dated modification offer.

In the fall of 2014, the Avalos contacted Deutsche to say that the out-of-state family emergency was an ongoing crisis; that they [the Avalos] had limited Internet availability during this time; and that their mail was not being forwarded to them. When the Avalos returned home in mid-December 2014, they learned Deutsche Bank had filed its motion for summary judgment *just days after being called by the Avalos and informed that the Avalos were still in Texas*, attending to the family emergency which had turned into the work of planning a funeral and settling a modest estate.

At the first scheduled summary judgment hearing, held on January 16, 2015, the Avalos explained these circumstances to the Court. Deutsche Bank did not deny any of it, including their decision to file for summary judgment when they [Deutsche Bank] knew the Avalos were out of communication, out of state, and dealing with a death in the family.

At the hearing, the Avalos asked the Court for time to complete two things. The Avalos had ordered a complete a mortgage audit from a company that specializes in investigating financial transactions. It was being conducted on their [the Avalos] entire mortgage transaction, including Deutsche Bank's filings on the public record. So first, the Avalos requested that time be given for that to be completed and entered into the record. And secondly, the Avalos requested time to conduct discovery as

they had not had any time to do any discovery at all in the case. The Court granted only four weeks; not enough time for discovery requests to be researched and created by the Avalos, and responded to by Deutsche Bank.

The record shows that both the professional mortgage audit was completed and the Defendants' first set of discovery requests was completed, but only days before the continued hearing on February 13, 2015, and Deutsche Bank was served with their copies of both. But because the Court had only delayed the proceedings for four weeks, there was no time for Deutsche Bank to even review the material, let alone respond to it.

From the Avalos' Opposition to Summary Judgement to the transcripts of the February 13, 2015 summary judgment hearing, the record clearly shows the Avalos repeatedly requested an appropriate amount of time to conduct discovery and for Deutsche Bank to be able to respond.

The transcripts show the Deutsche Bank counsel opining on the above-described material even though she admitted she had not even examined it, even falsely asserting it was likely part of an Internet scam.

Summary judgment was granted without Deutsche Bank being required to respond to the Avalos discovery.

D. ARGUMENT(S) WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. The Trial Court denied the Avalos' right to obtain discovery. Without any party's motion or objection in opposition to discovery, and on its own initiative and contrary to Rule 26, the Trial Court disallowed the Avalos' discovery from going forward. The Court then granted Deutsche Bank's Motion for Summary Judgment. In its summary of the case, the Court of Appeals' opinion inaccurately deals with this element of the case, treating it as a question of whether the Trial Court was required to allow "additional discovery" when, in fact, the Avalos had not yet, to date, had the ability to conduct ANY discovery at all. Deutsche Bank made their discovery requests to the Avalos, to which the Avalos provided a timely response. At no time did the Trial Court challenge the relevance of Deutsche Bank's discovery requests as it did the Avalos'. Given that the rules of civil procedure promote reciprocity and equal access to evidence, pursuant to Rule 26 the Avalos should have been able to conduct discovery.

Quoting the Trial Court's May 29, 2015 transcripts: "If the Court of Appeals believes that I've made an error and that discovery is necessary, they will reverse me and they'll send it back down for discovery."

In its Opinion, the Court of Appeals opined, on Page 6 <u>Discovery</u>, that pursuant to <u>Turner v. Kohler</u>, 54 Wn. App. at 629, "if the party opposing the motion cannot show that it is likely to discover evidence that would create an issue of fact, the court is not required to delay the summary judgment hearing."

The Avalos argue that Turner v. Kohler is not relevant because:

1. With respect to the <u>Deutsche v. Avalo</u> case, the Court of Appeals believed a fact that was not so: that the Avalos had conducted *some* discovery and were, at the time of the summary judgment hearing, seeking to conduct even *more* discovery. See Page 6 of Appellate Court's opinion, <u>Discovery</u> section, first two sentences:

"The Avalos contend that the trial court should have allowed them to conduct *additional discovery* before ruling on Deutsche Bank's summary judgment motion. Delaying a motion hearing to permit a party to conduct *further discovery*..." [emphasis added]

And the last sentence on Page 6, continued on Page 7:

"The Avalos claim they needed additional discovery in order to support the conclusions of the chain of title analysis and present evidence of breaks in the chain of title." [emphasis added]

In fact, the Avalos had not yet had the opportunity to request of Deutsche Bank *any* discovery at all. In <u>Turner v. Kohler</u>, the party seeking a continuance to obtain material helpful to its case was the Plaintiff. Still, in that case, Turner's request for a continuance *was twice granted* (albeit by the Defendant, Kohler).

2. If the Court of Appeals had known that the Avalos had not yet been able to conduct <u>any</u> discovery, by the time summary judgment was upon them, <u>Turner v. Kohler</u> would have provided different guidance. Further, other cases would have shed more light.

For example, in State v. Boehme, 71 Wn.2d 632, 430 P.2d 527 (1967), the Court opined:

"At this point, we momentarily pause to observe that the rules of discovery are designed to enhance the search for truth in both civil and criminal litigation. And, except where the exchange of information is not otherwise clearly impeded by constitutional limitations or statutory inhibitions, the route of discovery should ordinarily be considered somewhat in the nature of a 2-way street, with the trial court regulating traffic over the rough areas in a manner which will insure a fair trial to all concerned, neither according to one party an unfair advantage nor placing the other at a disadvantage. State v. Robinson, 61 Wn.2d 107, 377 P.2d 248 (1962); State v. Gilman, 63 Wn.2d 7, 385 P.2d 369 (1963); State v. Peele, 67 Wn.2d 893, 410 P.2d 599 (1966)." [Emphasis added.]

In State v. Nelson, the Court cited the above quote from the Boehme case, referring to it as a "beacon of direction to the lower courts". See State v. Nelson, 14 Wn. App. 658, 664, 545 P.2d 36 (1975).

Then in State v. Yates, the Court cited the same quote from Boehme, calling it "the clear policy this court expressed over two decades ago." [Emphasis added.] See State v. Yates 111 Wn.2d 793 765 P.2d 291 (1988).

Moreover, the Trial Court lacked the authority to prevent discovery from being done. Pursuant to Rule 26, there are only three specific circumstances under which the court has the authority to limit discovery:

"(A) the discovery sought is unreasonably cumulative or duplicative, or is obtainable from some other source that is more

convenient, less burdensome, or less expensive; (B) the party seeking discovery has had ample opportunity by discovery in the action to obtain the information sought; or (C) the discovery is unduly burdensome or expensive, taking into account the needs of the case, the amount in controversy, limitations on the parties resources, and the importance of the issues at stake in the litigation." See RCP Rule 26 (b)(1)(a),(b), and (c)

Further, pursuant to Rule 26, there is only one specific circumstance in which "the court may act upon its own initiative": if and when "reasonable notice" has been made or "pursuant to a motion under section (c)." See RCP Rule 26 (b)(1)(a),(b), and (c). In the instant matter, no one argued that the discovery sought was unreasonably cumulative or duplicative, or was obtainable from some other more convenient source; no one had argued that the party seeking discovery had had ample opportunity by discovery in the action to obtain the information sought. *It is an established fact that the opposite was the case*. And no one had argued that the discovery was unduly burdensome or expensive. The burden of establishing entitlement to nondisclosure rests with the party resisting discovery, *Anderson*, 103 Wn.2d at 905, which Deutsche Bank did not do.

We now argue what the Avalos believe discovery could reveal.

Deutsche Bank's unexplained \$70,067.35 and \$70,453.85 figures

Discovery would either authenticate Deutsche Bank's "Stated

Balloon Amount" of \$70,067.85, revealing what exactly is meant by that, and/or the \$70,453.35 figure, and what is meant by the "the deferred principal balance", OR it would show one or both figures as invalid. This is of material importance 1) because the Avalos argue that these figures are a mistake caused by Deutsche Bank's servicer, and *not* created by the Avalos failure to make timely payments, and 2) because Deutsche Bank refers to this matter as a money judgment. Therefore, if the case is correctly adjudicated and a valid money judgment is still the result, the proper amount can only be ascertained through discovery.

Pertaining to the mortgage audit, a/k/a the chain of title analysis, produced for the Avalos AND the discovery requests they produced: the Appeals Court opined, at Page 7 of their opinion (second sentence), that...

"They [the Avalos] claim that their discovery requests could have asked Deutsche Bank to explain these alleged breaks in the chain of title and provide details about "the nature of the transaction." As discussed above, the trial court properly concluded the information contained in the chain of title analysis was not relevant."

However, without reliance upon the testimony of an opposition witness qualified to affirm that the information contained in that analysis and discovery was *not* relevant, neither the Deutsche Bank's counsel, nor the trial judge who admitted she had never before laid eyes on a professionally investigated and prepared chain of title analysis, nor the

judges of the Court of Appeals, were in a position to assert that the Avalos' discovery would not reveal anything of relevance. Along with the aforementioned analysis that was completed, an affidavit of fact made by the investigator who conducted the analysis was included. Because the Trial Court disallowed this material in the proceeding, Deutsche Bank did not have to provide a responsive affidavit. The Avalos contend this demonstrated an untenable inequity by the lower courts.

Discovering whether Deutsche Bank is truly the holder in due course

In error, the Trial Court and Appellate Court failed to acknowledge "Note Holder" is more than being in possession of "the Note."

In its summary judgment hearing, the Deutsche Bank counsel cited the Bain case from 2012, suggesting that Bain was one dimensional. The "Bain case that I quoted is very, very clear," she said. See Page 11, February 13, 2015 summary judgment transcript. See also Bain v. Metropolitan Mortg. Group, Inc., 285 P.3d 34, 175 Wn.2d 83 (Wash. 2012).

The Court then immediately agreed, saying,

"That was my other question is, is your client the holder of the note? And if you're the holder of the note, I think that the argument made by the Avalos fails."

In its opinion, the Appellate Court, also citing RCW 62A.3-301 and

Brown v. Dep't of Commerce, 184 Wn.2d 509, 524-25,359 P.3d 771 (2015) agreed with Deutsche and the Trial Court, saying,

"as holder of the note, Deutsche Bank had the authority to enforce the note and commence judicial foreclosure of the deed of trust. Because no questions of fact exist as to any issue material to the judgment, we affirm." See opinion Page(s) 1-2. [Emphasis added.]

The Appellate Court again:

"...we consider the Avalos' contention that a question of fact exists as to Deutsche Bank's authority to enforce the note and deed of trust. Washington law is clear: the holder of an instrument is entitled to enforce that instrument. Deutsche Bank submitted undisputed evidence that it was the holder of the note. While the Avalos deny that Deutsche Bank was the holder of the note, they have submitted no evidence to contradict Deutsche Bank's evidence. The Avalos claim that the chain of title analysis creates an issue of disputed fact. But it does not because the analysis does not dispute that Deutsche Bank was the holder of the note, the only relevant fact about Deutsche Bank's authority to foreclose. Thus, under well-established Washington law, Deutsche Bank was entitled to enforce the note." See opinion Page(s) 4-5.

The Appellate Court again cites Bain when, at the bottom of Page 5 of its opinion, it concludes that,

"Washington law requires only that Deutsche Bank currently holds the note. Therefore, the Avalos' chain of title evidence has no relevance to Deutsche Bank's authority to initiate foreclosure." See Bain, 175 Wn.2d at 102-04.

In other words, the Deutsche Bank counsel and the Trial Court and the Appellate Court all held the view that being in possession of the note was literally the only relevant fact. In the words of the Trial Court, "[I]f you're the holder of the note... the argument made by the Avalos fails."

The Avalos argue that the Appeals Court opinion is not entirely accurate. Washington law does not require *only* that Deutsche Bank holds the note. In reaching the Bain decision, the High Court also obtained guidance from William B. Stoebuck & John W. Weaver's, Washington Practice: Real Estate: Transactions (2d ed. 2004) which was quoted thusly:

"[a] general axiom of mortgage law is that obligation and mortgage cannot be split, meaning that the person who can foreclose the mortgage *must be the one to whom the obligation is due.*" See Volume 18 Stoebuck & Weaver, Washington Practice: Real Estate: Transactions (2d ed. 2004), at 334. [Emphasis added.]

This goes to the distinction between "holder in due course" and merely being a party in possession of the purported note. If the party claiming to be in physical possession of the note has not yet shown that they are the holder in due course, that party's status as note holder is an open question. See RCW 62A.3-302.

So, in response to Deutsche Bank citing Bain, four side notes by way of comparison become relevant in the instant matter: 1) In Bain's case against MERS, Kristin Bain was permitted to conduct discovery; 2) the Washington State Supreme Court heard the case on her appeal after the lower court had granted summary judgment to her opponent who was seeking to foreclose; and 3) ultimately, the homeowner's position was largely vindicated when the Court ruled that MERS could not be an actual

beneficiary because MERS did not hold the note and only the note holder could enforce the note. But 4) Bain went further. It affirmed that "holder" must mean "holder in due course," not just being in current physical possession of the subject note.

Discovery should help establish whether Deutsche Bank is the "holder in due course" pursuant to RCW 62A.3-302.

More specifics about what discovery could and should reveal

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