RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

4/11/2017 4:23 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 75695-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ALBERTO & VICTORIA AVALO,

Petitioner/Plaintiff,

v.

DEUTSCHE BANK TRUST COMPANY AMERICAS AN INDENTURE TRUSTEE FOR THE REGISTSERED HOLDERS OF SAXON ASSET SECURITIES TRUST 2005-1, MORTGAGE LOAN ASSET BACKED NOTES, SERIES 2005-1,

Respondent/Defendants.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Emilie K. Edling, WSBA # 45042 Houser & Allison, APC 9600 SW Oak St. Suite 570 Portland, OR 97223

Telephone: (503) 914-1382 Facsimile: (503) 914-1383

II.	COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES		
III.	I. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	A.	Defendants Take Out a Loan to Purchase Property3	
	В.	Defendants Default on the Loan and the Trust Initiates Foreclosure	
	C.	The Trial Court Grants the Trust's Motion for Summary Judgment	
	D.	Defendants' Appeal and Petition for Review7	
IV.	REASO	ONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED8	
	A.	Defendants' Petition for Review was Untimely and Should be Denied on that Basis	
	В.	The Defendants' Petition for Review is Unsupported by Authority and Raises No Legitimate Legal Issue11	
	1.	The Trust satisfied its burden of showing that summary judgment was warranted and there were no issues of fact	
	2.	Defendants' argument that the Trust must prove it is a "holder in due course" is without merit	
	3.	The trial court's decision to grant summary judgment in spite of Defendants' request for more time to conduct discovery was appropriate	
	4.	The Defendants fail to show that any aspect of the Court of Appeals' ruling was in error	
	C.	The Defendants' Petition Does Not Satisfy any Requirement for Acceptance of Review	

V.	ENTITLEMENT TO ATTORNEY FEES
VI.	CONCLUSION19
VII.	APPENDIX
Case	es
	equez v. OneWest Bank, FSB, p. C11-0029RSL, 2011 WL 1459458 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 15, 2011) . 15
	Sav. Bank & Trust Co. v. Helgesen, 44 Wash. 54 (1911) on reh'g, 67 Wash. 572 (1912)12
Bain 1	v. Metro Mortg. Group, Inc., 75 Wash. 2d 83, 285 P.3d 34 (2012)12
	vi v. Nw. Tr. Servs., Inc., 97 Wn. App. 318, 387 P.3d 1139 (2016)14
	Diamond Grp., Inc. v. KB Seattle 1, Inc., 63 Wn. App. 163, 266 P.3d 881 (2011)13
	vn v. Washington State Dep't of Commerce, 84 Wash. 2d 509, 359 P.3d 771 (2015)11, 12
N	rsche Bank Trust Co. Americas v. Avalo, No. 75695-8-I, 196 Wn. App. 1061, 2016 WL 6683627 Nov. 14, 2016)
1	sche Bank Nat. Trust Co. v. Slotke, 92 Wn. App. 166, 367 P.3d 600 (2016), rev. den. sub nom. 85 Wn. 2d 1037, 377 P.3d 746 (2016)2, 13, 14, 15, 16, 18
	l v. Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co., o. C10-2094 RSL, 2011 WL 2436134 (W.D. Wash. Jun. 4, 2011) 15
	son v. Wells Fargo Bank N.A., No. C10-1948Z, 2011 WL 2144836 V.D. Wash. 2011)

In re Butler, 512 B.R. 643 (Bankr. W.D. Wash. 2014)15
Ivy Press v. McKechnie, 88 Wash. 643 (1915)
John Davis & Co. v. Cedar Glen No. Four, Inc., 75 Wash. 2d 214, 450 P.2d 166 (1969)12, 18
State v. Hand, 177 Wn.2d 1015, 308 P.3d 588 (2013)9
Washington Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Alsager, No. 66019-5-I, 164 Wn. App. 1025, 2011 WL 5027500 (2011)17
Wesche v. Martin, 64 Wn.App. 1 (1992)14
Statutes
RCW 4.84.33019
RCW 62A. 1-201(b)(21)11
RCW 62A.3-30111, 12, 18
Rules
CR 56(c)13
CR 56(e)11
RAP 1.2(c)9
RAP 13.4(b)18
RAP 18.119
RAP 18.8(b)9
RAP 18.99

I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

The Petition for Review before this Court arises out of a judicial foreclosure action brought by Deutsche Bank as Trustee (the "Trust")¹ after borrowers Alberto and Victoria Avalo (the "Defendants" or "Petitioners") defaulted on a promissory note and deed of trust held by the Trust. Defendants' initial Answer to the foreclosure complaint stated that they were uncertain if they ever executed a Note, and they claimed the Note and Deed of Trust "may be a forgery." (CP 222.) Later, Defendants claimed that the Trust was not the appropriate party entitled to receive payments under the Note, in spite of a signed Loan Modification Agreement stating that the Trust was the "Lender" and promising to make monthly payments to the "Lender." (CP 279; 280, ¶ 2.) Now, the Defendants' Petition further claims that specific terms in the signed Loan Modification Agreement were the result of servicer error and that they justly refused to pay as required under the Agreement. The Defendants also assert that this Court should accept their untimely Petition, which they received before the petition deadline, due to the fact that the Clerk allegedly sent the Court of Appeals' Opinion to the wrong address.

¹ Respondent's complete name is Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas an Indenture Trustee for the Registered Holders of Saxon Asset Securities Trust 2005-1, Mortgage Loan Asset Backed Notes, Series 2005-1.

None of the Defendants' arguments have any merit, and this Court should deny review. Many of the Defendants' claims are simply not credible; others reflect a fundamental misunderstanding of the law. The Court of Appeals correctly found that the Trust proved it was entitled to enforce the note and foreclose on the deed of trust when it established it was the "holder" of the note by proving that it was the party in possession of the original note. *Deutsche Bank Nat. Trust Co. v. Slotke*, 192 Wn. App. 166, 174, 367 P.3d 600 (2016), *rev. den. sub nom.*, 185 Wn. 2d 1037, 377 P.3d 746 (2016) (citing RCW 62A.3-301). Defendants' Petition fails to show any error in the proceedings below, and also fails to satisfy this Court's criteria for accepting review.

II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Is there any basis, as required under the Washington Rules of Appellate Procedure ("RAP"), Rule 13.4(b), for this Court to accept discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion affirming grant of summary judgment in this routine foreclosure case?
- 2. Is the Trust entitled to an award of attorney's fees and costs incurred in responding to Defendants' Petition for Review?

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendants' Petition presents this Court with new facts not previously discussed on appeal, and without citation to any portion of the

record. The facts documented in the record and appropriately before this Court are as follows:

A. Defendants Take Out a Loan to Purchase Property

On December 22, 2004, Alberto E. Avalo and Victoria L. Avalo, executed and delivered a Promissory Note (the "Note") for a loan (the "Loan") in the amount of \$388,218.00 to Saxon Mortgage, Inc. (CP 246 at ¶ 5.) The Note was secured by a Deed of Trust on property located in Pierce County, Washington (the "Property"). (CP 256.) Under the Note and Deed of Trust, Defendants agreed to make monthly payments and agreed that if they did not do so, they would be in default and the Deed of Trust could be foreclosed. (CP 250, ¶ 3(B); CP 251, ¶ 7(B)-(C); CP 268, ¶ 22.)

The Note provided that the Note could be transferred and that anyone who took the Note by transfer was the "NoteHolder." (CP 250 at ¶ 1.) Accordingly, the Note was later indorsed to Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas as Indenture Trustee for the Registered Holders of Saxon Asset Securities Trust 2005-1, Mortgage Loan Asset Backed Notes, Series 2005-1 (the "Trust"). (CP 252.)

B. Defendants Default on the Loan and the Trust Initiates Foreclosure

Defendants became delinquent on the Loan and entered into a Loan Modification Agreement with the Trust on June 2, 2009. (CP 279.) The Loan Modification Agreement, signed by Defendants, explicitly acknowledged that the "Lender" of the Loan was "Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas formerly known as Banker's Trust Company, as Trustee." (CP 279-80.) In the Loan Modification Agreement, Defendants promised to make monthly payments on the Loan to the "Lender." (CP 280, ¶ 2.) Defendants also promised that they had "no right of set-off or counterclaim, or any defense to the obligations of the Note or Security Instrument." (CP 281, ¶ 4(c).) The Loan Modification Agreement provided that the new "Unpaid Principal Balance" under the Note was \$378,686.33 and stated:

"The Unpaid Principal Balance does not include the following amount which is also payable under the Note and Security Instrument, \$70,067.85 (the "Stated Balloon Amount"), because this is the amount that Borrower owes to Lender in arrears. Lender hereby agrees to waive charging further interest on the Stated Balloon Amount to Borrower in exchange for Borrower's promise to pay the Stated Balloon Amount to Lender on January 1, 2035 (the "Maturity Date") in this Agreement.

(CP 280, ¶ 1.)

The Loan Modification Agreement brought Defendants' Loan current and also reduced their interest rate from 7.800% (CP 250, ¶ 2.) to

3.750%, and waived interest on a portion of the Loan. (CP 280, ¶¶ 1-2.) As part of the agreement, Defendants signed a notice verifying that the written agreement was the final agreement and there were no other oral agreements. (CP 284.)

Defendants nonetheless ceased making payments on their Loan by at least July 2011. (CP 247, ¶ 10.) Ultimately, Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC ("Ocwen"), the servicer of the Loan at the time, sent a Notice of Default (CP 247, ¶ 10) and then filed a foreclosure complaint on March 24, 2014. (CP 1.) Defendants filed an Answer stating that they did not know if they executed the Note and Deed of Trust because Defendants were "now uncertain as to exactly what happened on or about May 27, 2009 and, therefore, this is denied." (CP 222.) Defendants further stated they were unable to ascertain the accuracy or truthfulness of the Note and Deed of Trust documents and that the documents "may be a forgery." (*Id.*) Defendants also alleged several affirmative defenses challenging standing and mentioning the securitization of the Loan, among other things. (CP 226-242.)

C. The Trial Court Grants the Trust's Motion for Summary Judgment

On November 25, 2014, the Trust filed a Motion for Summary

Judgment supported by several sworn affidavits. The Motion argued that

there was no genuine issue of material fact that (1) Defendants were in default, (2) the Trust provided notice of the default to Defendants, (3) the Trust was the holder of the Note entitled to foreclose, and (4) the Trust satisfied all of the preconditions to enforcement of the Note and Deed of Trust through foreclosure. (CP 309, ¶1.) The Trust offered evidence supporting all of these points. (CP 246-306.)

In opposition, Defendants argued that the Court should deny summary judgment because Defendants had not had an opportunity to conduct any discovery or obtain a "forensic audit," which they wished to do. (CP 75-76.) The Superior Court held a hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment on January 16, 2015; however, in light of Defendants' desire to conduct discovery, continued the hearing to February 13, 2015. (Opening Br. at 17.)

On February 9, 2015, less than five days before the hearing,
Defendants filed an Amended Opposition. (CP 82.) Defendants made the
same points as their prior Opposition, but also attached a lengthy
document they termed a "forensic audit." (CP 86-169.) Defendants failed
to provide any briefing or explanation regarding the forensic audit or the
conclusions Defendants expected the Court to draw from the audit.

Defendants also failed to serve any discovery requests on the Trust. (CP 316.)²

Ultimately, the Supreme Court found that Defendants were in default of the Note; that the Note had been indorsed to the Trust and was in possession of the Trust as confirmed by presentation of the Note at the summary judgment hearing (Tr. 11:14-23); and that all pre-requisites to foreclosure had been satisfied. (CP 171.) The Court granted Summary Judgment on February 13, 2015. (CP 170-172.)

D. Defendants' Appeal and Petition for Review

Defendants filed a Notice of Appeal on April 24, 2015. Their Second Amended Opening Brief ("Opening Br.") argued that the Trust's evidence was inadequate to support grant of summary judgment and that material issues of fact were in dispute. (Opening Br. at 1.) Defendants also argued they had inadequate time to conduct discovery. (*Id.* at 2.) The Court of Appeals rejected each of their arguments in an unpublished decision. *Deutsche Bank Trust Co. Americas v. Avalo*, No. 75695-8-I, 196 Wn. App. 1061, 2016 WL 6683627, at *2-3 (Nov. 14, 2016).

_

² At the February hearing, the Trust's counsel learned that Defendants filed discovery requests with the Court, but did not serve them. (Tr. 9:24-10:1.) Defendants attach unsigned discovery requests to their Opening Brief, but the requests do not contain certificates of service confirming when they were served on the Trust's counsel.

Defendants filed an untimely Petition for Review on approximately December 28, 2016,³ accompanied by a Motion for Extension of Time to File the Petition. As discussed further below, none of the arguments raised in the Petition warrant this Court's review.

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This Court should deny Defendants' Petition for Review. The Petition was untimely and no adequate reason for an extension has been offered. Further, Defendants fail to point to an actual error in the Court of Appeals' ruling or raise a legitimate issue warranting reversal of the grant of summary judgment. Finally, Defendants' Petition does not satisfy this Court's standards for review.

A. Defendants' Petition for Review was Untimely and Should Be Denied on that Basis